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ARGUMENT

Drug Free America has suggested two independent reasons this
Court should prevent the Proposed Amendment from being placed on
the ballot: (1) the Proposed Amendment is facially unconstitutional
under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution; and
(2) the Proposed Amendment’s ballot summary is affirmatively
misleading for failing to provide notice of its grant of immunity.

Since the Sponsor only provided a cursory response to Drug
Free America’s second argument, Drug Free America will not belabor
the point with further briefing on that argument. On the first issue,
the Sponsor correctly notes this Court is required to determine
“whether the proposed amendment is facially invalid under the
United States Constitution” by section 16.061(1), Florida Statutes.
The Sponsor fails to explain how this Court could reach a conclusion
that the Proposed Amended is not facially invalid. For that reason
alone, this Court should strike the Proposed Amendment from the

ballot.



I. THE PROPOSED AMENDMENT IS FACIALLY INVALID
UNDER THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES
CONSTITUTION

The parties agree that to succeed on a facial challenge, the
challenger must show “no set of circumstances exists in which the
[challenged provision] can be constitutionally valid.” Fraternal Order
of Police, Miami Lodge 20 v. City of Miami, 243 So. 3d 894, 897 (Fla.
2018). And the parties agree this Court has never had occasion to
apply section 16.061 to a proposed amendment. This case provides
that opportunity and is precisely the situation the Legislature
intended for that provision to be applied.

The Sponsor suggests the Proposed Amendment is not facially
invalid under the Supreme Clause since the Controlled Substances
Act only “preempts state law only where there is a ‘positive conflict”
between the state law and the CSA. SSF Ans. Br, p. 66 (citing 21
U.S.C. § 903). Its only argument that the Proposed Amendment does
not result in a “positive conflict” is a cherry-picked sentence (likely
dicta) from Gamble v. United States, 139 S. Ct. 1960, 1969 (2019). Of
course, Gamble involved a Double Jeopardy challenge to

prosecutions by state and federal sovereigns for the same conduct.



Gamble did not affirmatively hold that states are permitted to legalize
the sale of marijuana.

This Court’s analysis is controlled by the text of the CSA. It is
clear the CSA prohibits the use, possession, sale, importation,
manufacturing, and distribution of marijuana. 21 U.S.C. § 801, et
seq. The Sponsor also failed to address how the Proposed
Amendment would conflict with the United States’ treaty obligations
that also prohibit the use, sale, or possession of marijuana.
Convention on Psychotropic Substances Done at Vienna February 21,
1971, As Rectified by the Proces-Verbal of August 15, 1973;, T.I.A.S.
No. 9725 (July 15, 1980).

The clear text of the CSA creates a positive conflict between
what the Proposed Amendment purports to allow—Ilegalization of
marijuana—and federal law—that prohibits marijuana possession.
And the Supreme Court has repeatedly instructed that states cannot
create exceptions to the plain language of the CSA.

For instance, in United States v. Oakland Cannabis Buyers’ Co-
op., the Supreme Court rejected a common law defense since the
Nation’s drug laws are set by Congress at the federal level and cannot

be modified by individual states. 532 U.S. 483, 489-90 (2001). The



Supreme Court rejected the idea that state law could interject
exceptions “notwithstanding the apparently absolute language” of the
CSA. Id. at 490. The plain language of the text is clear—marijuana
possession, cultivation, and distribution are (and remain to this day)
illegal. States are not free to modify the reach of a federal statute.

Likewise, in Gonzales v. Raich, the Supreme Court reviewed the
district court’s decision that cultivation and possession of marijuana
pursuant to California state law was exempted from the CSA’s
prohibition on cultivation and possession of marijuana. 545 U.S. 1,
8 (2005). The Supreme Court explained that Congress validly
exercised federal power (through the Commerce Clause) when it
enacted the CSA. Id. at 9. California could not by its own laws legalize
something federal law expressly made illegal. Id. The Sponsor’s
attempts to distinguish Gonzalez is unavailing.

As this Court has previously made clear, “the activities
contemplated by the proposed amendment are criminal offenses
under federal law.” Advisory Opinion to Attorney Gen. re Adult Use of
Marijuana, 315 So. 3d 1176, 1180 (Fla. 2021). See also, United States
v. Canort, 737 F.3d 181, 184 (2d Cir. 2013) (“Marijuana remains

illegal under federal law, even in those states in which medical



marijuana has been legalized.”); United States v. Inzer, 8:14-CR-437-
T-30EAJ, 2015 WL 3404672, at *4 (M.D. Fla. May 26, 2015) (holding
that the “CSA . . . preempts conflicting state laws, and, therefore,
marijuana remains a Schedule I drug across the nation.”). The
Proposed Amendment seeks to make an end run around the CSA’s
prohibitions on the possession of marijuana. This Court should reject
that effort.

The Proposed Amendment is facially unconstitutional since it is
in “positive conflict” with federal law and thus violates the Supremacy
Clause of the United States Constitution.

CONCLUSION

This Court should find the Proposed Amendment facially
unconstitutional pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the U.S.

Constitution. This Proposed Amendment should be stricken from the

ballot.

DATED: August 2, 2023
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Jeremy D. Bailie
Jeremy D. Bailie (FBN 118558)
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